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WELCOME
It is a pleasure to present the South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare’s (SERCUL) 
2018-19 Annual and Financial Reports to our partners and the community.

SERCUL is the sub-regional Natural Resource Management (NRM) organisation that operates 
within the metropolitan and peri-urban areas of the Canning River Catchment. As part of 
the community we work with State and Federal Government agencies, Local Governments, 
businesses, community groups and volunteers to care for the environment and our local 
communities. This is done in many ways; working to improve biodiversity, protecting riverine 
and wetland environments, and engaging with our extensive community network to increase 
knowledge and skills in environmental management.

We take great pride in this year’s achievements, which we have undertaken in partnership with 
the community and a range of other important project partners and stakeholders. Through these 
partnerships we have been working together to improve the health of our land and waterways. 
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EXECUTIVE MESSAGES

From the Chair - Pat Hart

Well what a year we have had… what started out with very 
real financial challenges has ended on a much higher note. 
The reason for such a 90 degree turnaround is due to the 
amazing commitment by SERCUL staff in their belief in our 
organisation and its objectives. This commitment and core 
values of our staff is reflected in their work out in our huge 
catchment with their high standards of work acknowledged as 
well as outstanding communications with all our partners and 
stakeholders.  

When our 2018-19 challenging financial position was identified 
and the question posed to staff as to who was able to 
reduce their working hours many rose to the challenge 
without question. As we investigated opportunities to reduce 
overheads - once again total cooperation. Then as our financial 
situation started slowly to repair we were offered a life line 
- an opportunity to take on a large three month tender for 
revegetation of the North Link project. Due to the skills and 
outstanding reputation of our outside Green Team we were 
offered this opportunity to tender. After a very complicated 
tender application, written by two of our skilled staff, was put 

forward and then only after a very intensive risk analysis by our Executive Committee and staff - our tender 
was accepted and in May the project commenced. It was an outstanding success in all ways with a wealth 
of learning along the way. Given the growth of SERCUL and the need to govern at a higher level than before 
has seen the requirement to make changes to our Constitution in order to ensure our governance meets 
statutory requirements. The new structure will see SERCUL governed by an executive committee.

Every one of the SERCUL staff have demonstrated outstanding work ethics throughout the year in all areas 
of the many roles we play in delivering projects large and small to community and partners. Staff also play 
an important role in our ever growing financial management system, scientific research, volunteer support 
and management, SERCUL ground and vehicle maintenance and of course our outside Green Team whose 
main role is to earn dollars to support our ever increasing overheads and projects that are not funded.

Whether we like it or not the State Government does not commit the amount of funding required in 
delivering the services we believe necessary to meet SERCUL’s objectives. Therefore if SERCUL wishes to 
continue to be a financially viable environmental organisation we need to continue to earn funds outside of 
those that we obtain from Government agencies and projects both through tendering and partnerships.   

Our Annual Report will clearly showcase the amazing achievements by all SERCUL staff in the various roles 
with all outcomes meeting our aims and objectives – the reason SERCUL exists. I would like to acknowledge 
the outstanding role our CEO Amy Krupa has given over the past year, her commitment is very much 
appreciated. I wish also to acknowledge my Executive Committee members for their roles and support 
particularly my Deputy Chair, Stephen Johnston who led with the changes to our Constitution and gives me 
great support in my role.

   Pat Hart
   Chairperson
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EXECUTIVE MESSAGES

From the CEO - Amy Krupa

The 2018-19 financial year started out with SERCUL in a 
precarious financial position but I am very happy to report that 
in just under a year, and due to some extremely hard work by 
SERCUL staff and the Executive Committee, we have turned it 
around as is indicated in our Financial Report.  

This turn around was achieved by reducing our overhead 
administrative costs where possible; some staff voluntarily 
reducing their hours to help save money in our largest 
expenses area, wages; our Environmental Services Unit 
attracting more fee for service work through tenders and 
requests for quote and receiving some large grants through 
our landcare program. The NorthLink project was by far the 
biggest tender that our Environmental Services Unit has 
implemented and contributed to our financial turnaround. This 
project involved planting over 500 000 tube stock, mature 
trees and seeding 60 ha and was undertaken by 23 Planting 
Officers who were employed solely for this three month project 
which crossed into the 2019-20 financial year. A huge thank 
you to all the staff involved in this project, which achieved all of 
its outcomes, i.e. planting 12 500 tube stock a day, and in many 

cases exceeded them. A special mention must be made of Matt Grimbly (Environmental Services Manager) 
and Alexei McKay (Supervisor) who worked many long days during this time making sure everything 
ran smoothly.

Partnerships with our stakeholders have continued to grow and without funding and support from agencies 
such as the Rivers and Estuaries Branch - Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions and 
the State NRM Program we would not be able to achieve the outcomes that we have. Funding from these 
agencies has allowed us to support close to 40 community groups in our region, in many ways, which is 
outlined in the Community Capacity section of this Annual Report. We also have a fantastic partnership 
with the South West Group, through funding from the Myer Foundation, which has allowed us to work 
intensively with Friends of Groups in the Fremantle area to build their capacity. A big thank you to all of our 
stakeholders and partners from all sectors of government and the community for supporting us and these 
partners are acknowledged on the Thank You page at the back of this Annual Report.

Two events stand out for me during this financial year, one bad and one good. Just before Christmas 2018 
we had a break in and two vehicles were stolen and burnt. While this was a stressful time that created a 
lot of work and angst the support of the SERCUL staff and Executive Committee was fantastic with John 
Maliunas, in particular, going way beyond his normal duties (i.e. securing the shed and compound at 3am). 
The good event this year was the construction of the new toilet block at SERCUL. Thanks to funding from 
the Department of Communities through our local MP, Bill Johnston, we now have two extra composting 
toilets that can be used by groups visiting SERCUL.

Finally, thank you to the Executive Committee for your support and mentorship through my first full year in 
the CEO role. A big thanks also to all the SERCUL staff, who pulled together and supported each other when 
the going did get tough, and now we have made it out the other side. 

Amy Krupa
Chief Executive Officer
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STAFF and COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Chair: Pat Hart

Deputy Chair: Stephen Johnston

Treasurer: Felicity Bairstow  

Member: Marc Lane

Member: Kobi Bradshaw-Chen

STAFF EMPLOYED DURING 2018–19
Jose Alcala – HR, Payroll and Administration Officer
Daniel Barczi – Landcare Officer, ESU
Natasha Bowden – Education and Promotion Manager
Caitlin Conway – Water Quality Officer/Volunteer 
Coordinator
Monica Estrada – Business and Finance Manager
Erin Farley – Environmental Education Officer
Dan Friesen – Community and Grants Manager
*Timothy Frodsham – Landcare Officer, ESU (July 2019)
Farina Gandadjaja – Administration and Finance Officer
Matthew Grimbly – Environmental Services Unit Manager
Amy Krupa – Chief Executive Officer
John Maliunas – Landcare Officer and Precinct Manager
Alexei McKay-Koodravsev – Landcare Officer, ESU
Daniel Millea – Landcare and DNIP Officer
Darren O’Brien – Landcare Officer, ESU
*Tarnisha Ogilvie – Booyi Program Coordinator (Dec 2018)
Wilson Orjuela – Landcare Officer, ESU and OHS Officer
Andy Owen – Landcare Officer, ESU
*Saw Ta Pweh – Landcare Officer, ESU (Aug 2018)
Melinda Snowball – Promotions and Graphic Design 
Officer/Volunteer Coordinator
*Isabella Streckhardt – Work for the Dole Supervisor  
(Dec 2018)
*Lat Too – Landcare Officer, ESU (Aug 2018)
Russell Walczak – Landcare Supervisor, ESU
Dr Rose Weerasinghe – Ecologist
Cat Williams – Community Liaison/Landcare Officer  
(City of Canning) 

LGSWA STAFF:
*Kylie Hosking – Little Green Steps WA Education Officer 
(May 2019)
Megan Mentz – Little Green Steps WA Program Manager
Anne Pettit – Little Green Steps WA Education Officer
Amy Warne – Little Green Steps WA Education Officer

*No longer working - left the organisation during the 2018-2019 
financial year

ESU - Environmental Services Unit

NORTHLINK CASUAL STAFF 
(2019)
Louisa Akerina
Jennifer Borger
Sarah Carr 
Elbert Curtin
Dwayne Durcan 
Mason Formentin 
Emily Gambold 
Kaylin Geelhoed 
Norman Jun Bin Lai
Emma Moulton 
James Nevill 
Siobhan Paget
Emily Rankin 
Alan Reidy
Darcy Reith 
Nicholas Rodriguez
Eva Scheuerlein 
Kieran Sekuloff 
Jonas Staudt 
Talen Stroot 
Mabinte van de Belt 
Chane van der Merwe 
Danim Wolsoncroft 
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ACHIEVEMENTS and HIGHLIGHTS

18 525 
People received education,  

via direct information or  
on-ground contact

Community and school 
on-ground restoration work 
days helped plant...

Schools engaged in  
on-ground activities and 
environmental education 

Friends of 
Groups engaged 
and supported

Value of volunteering: $20/hr for children under 16 and $50/hr for adults.

Thanks to funding from the Department 
of Communities through our local MP, Bill 
Johnston, we were able to construct a 
toilet block at SERCUL.  We now have two 
extra composting toilets that can be used 
by groups and volunteers.

During National Volunteer Week we had 
a fantastic bush tucker themed afternoon 
tea as a thank you to our volunteers and 
community groups.

17 351

Seedlings installed
155 524

hours of volunteering labour

total value of volunteering

  800 177

48
sampling events

137
sample sites over 10 projects

        SAMPLES COLLECTED

Water Sediment Macrophyte 
599 43 48

$

over 3100 individuals 

contributed

86

88
39
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OUR Constitution

VISION
To have the Natural Resources of the 
South Region of Perth managed in a 
healthy and sustainable manner by all 
stakeholders for future generations.

MISSION
To use integrated natural resource 
management to foster cultural change 
in how the community perceives and 
interacts with the environment, whilst 
promoting and actively participating 
in the improvement of the health of 
waterways and other ecosystems within 
the South Region.

a. To identify priority Natural Resource Management 
issues in the South Region in partnership with 
Community Groups, Local Government, State 
Government and Industry.

b. Administer the South East Regional Centre 
for Urban Landcare Inc. funds to promote the 
objectives and outcomes of the Association.

c. Assist Community Groups, State and Local 
Government in the coordination and delivery 
of Natural Resource Management in the South 
Region.

d. Support and encourage the implementation of 
best management practice of Natural Resources 
within the South Region.

e. Recognise and embrace cultural and natural 
heritage.

f. Foster research on matters relating to the South 
Region’s natural and cultural heritage.

g. Work in partnership with Community Groups, 
Local Government, State Government and 
Industry to educate the wider community to 
protect our natural resources.

h. Support and encourage the formation and training 
of community environment groups.

i. Support the development and implementation 
of projects that occur outside the South Region 
that align with and benefit the delivery of the 
SERCUL objectives.

OBJECTIVESSERCUL, as an incorporated, independent 
community environmental organisation, are 
able to bring together the community, State 
and Federal Government agencies, Local 
Governments, businesses and educational 
institutions to plan for, develop and implement 
projects that will improve the natural 
environment using a strategic and integrated 
approach.

SERCUL is a sub-regional organisation that 
operates within the metropolitan and peri-urban 
areas of the Canning River Catchment. The area 
covered takes in most of the southern and eastern 
suburbs of Perth and includes Dyarguu (the 
Canning River), the Southern-Wungong River and 
parts of Derbarl Yaragan (the Swan River). 

Fremantle

East Fremantle Melville Canning

South 
Perth

Victoria 
Park

Belmont

Gosnells

Cockburn

Kwinana

Rockingham

Armadale

Wandering

Kalamunda

Serpentine-Jarrahdale

Swan

Canning River

N

The South Region is defined as consisting of those parts 
of the Cities of Armadale, Belmont, Canning, Cockburn, 

Fremantle, Gosnells, Kalamunda, Kwinana, Melville, 
Rockingham, South Perth and Towns of East Fremantle and 

Victoria Park which fall within the boundary of the Swan Natural 
Resource Management Region. 
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OUR Projects
Linked to our Objectives

Objectives
Projects a b c d e f g h i
ENVIRONMENTAL EDUCATION

Phosphorus Awareness Project

Fertilise Wise Fertiliser Training

Amazon Frogbit Education Program

Mozzie Wise Program 

Little Green Steps WA

COMMUNITY CAPACITY
Volunteer Program

Community Group Support

Empowering Communities

Work for the Dole Program

Canning Community Landcare

LANDCARE & RESTORATION
Drainage Nutrient Intervention Program

Canning River Restoration

Booragoon and Blue Gum Lakes

Yagan Reserve Restoration

Bull Creek Reserve Restoration

Yule Brook and Horley Road Wetland

Beckenham Memorial Groves Project

Wetlands to Waves Habitat Corridor 

Woodman Point Restoration

Lakewook Cove Reserve Restoration

Living Landscapes

Hydrocotyle Eradication Program

Amazon Frogbit Management Program

MONITORING & RESEARCH
Water Quality Monitoring

Adenia Research Program

Horley Road Wetland – Biomonitoring
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Environmental EDUCATION

Phosphorus Awareness Project

ALGAE BUSTER

PHOSPHORUS
AWARENESS

PROJECT

Coordinated by Natasha Bowden

PROJECT PARTNER AND FUNDED BY: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Parks 
and Wildlife Service.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: The Phosphorus Awareness Project is an education campaign that aims to educate 
the general community about the impact of too many nutrients in the Swan and Canning River systems and 
wetlands, and how to reduce those levels.

PROJECT OUTCOMES

EVENTS MEDIA

RESOURCES
1097
School students 

585

Seedlings installed over 35 sessions
1553

contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$11 700

• 13 displays engaging with more than 7095 
people (Perth Garden Festival, Celebration of 
Science Community Expo, Garden Clubs and Societies 
Fairs, Kelmscott Show, Kalamunda Garden Festival, 
Envirofest and other community festivals).

• 273 school presentations to 6706 students 
from 73 schools from Kindy to Year 12. 

• 40 community presentations to 632 people.

• 2019 LGA Annual Nutrient Survey sent to 
Local Governments in May. Received 19 responses 
and report is currently being written.

•	 Hosted	the	Canoeing on the Canning Workshop 
with eight teachers and community members 
attending this professional development workshop.

•	 The Phosphorus Awareness Project has been in media 
articles on 61 occasions this year, including in 
newspapers, newsletters and blogs.

• Four Education Newsletters are distributed each 
year to approximately 334 schools and teachers.

• Supported groups with project resources on 
35 occasions.

•	 Developed	PowerPoint	presentations	for	the	
Lifecycle of a Dragonfly, Bush Tucker and 
the new Aquatic Weeds incursions.

•	 Created	Noongar Six Seasons Garden 
Designs for Bassendean Primary School, Unicare 
Early Childhood Education Centre and Fremantle 
Primary School.

•	 Developed	12 new designs for PAP badges.

•	 Updated	all,	and	reprinting	of	the	Fertilise	Wise,	
Grow Local Plant and Bush Tucker brochures.

•	 Around	1827 of the five Fertilise Wise Project 
brochures distributed at events and to nurseries and 
community groups.

•	 Over	3986 of the five Grow Local Plants brochures 
distributed at events and to nurseries and 
community groups.

•	 Over	13 320 Phosphorus Awareness Project 
brochures, stickers and other resources distributed.
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Fertilise Wise Fertiliser Training
Coordinated by Natasha Bowden

PROJECT PARTNERS: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Parks and Wildlife 
Service; Forrest & Forrest Horticulture Consultancy Services.

FUNDED BY: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Parks and Wildlife Service.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: This project aims to train school gardeners, turf managers and local government 
officers in fertiliser best management practices, specific to Perth. The training is organised by SERCUL 
and delivered by John Forrest of Forrest & Forrest Horticulture Consultancy Services. 

Fertilise Wise Fertiliser 
Training session 2019

Amazon Frogbit smothering  
Little Rush Lake in 2018

Environmental EDUCATION

Amazon Frogbit Education Program
Coordinated by Natasha Bowden, Dr. Rose Weerasinghe and Amy Krupa

PROGRAM PARTNER AND FUNDED BY: Swan Canning River Recovery Program 2.0 through Perth NRM.

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: This program aims to educate the wider community, primarily through the 
distribution of information to aquarium and aquatic plant distributors, about the impact of Amazon 
Frogbit on waterways. Training of land managers in aquatic weed control and management is also a large 
part of the program. The management and research component of this program is reported on later in 
this annual report.

PROJECT OUTCOMES

• Two training sessions held with 48 turf managers 
trained from 12 organisations including DBCA, local 
government, a Home Owners Association and a private lawn 
mowing business.

• Two displays at the Lawn Expo and the WA Turf Seminar 
at which 300 people were engaged.

PROGRAM OUTCOMES

• Amazon Frogbit Display at Perth Garden Festival which 
was seen by an estimated 1500 people.

•	 Wrote	an	article on aquatic weeds and the new Aquatic 
Weeds incursion offered by the Phosphorus Awareness 
Project, which has a focus on Amazon Frogbit, in SERCUL’s 
School’s Catchment Education Newsletter.

•	 Informative	Ad posted on Gumtree outlining the 
environmental and economic consequences of releasing 
Frogbit into the waterways and providing information 
on how to dispose of it correctly. Was viewed by 
approximately 200 people and resulted in the removal of 
all of the advertisements from people selling or giving away 
Amazon Frogbit.

• Visited 12 Fish/Pond/Aquarium/Water Plant shops 
to inform them, verbally and through a letter, about 
Amazon Frogbit and provided 23 posters for display and 
600 brochures for distribution to customers. Obtained 
the name of the two main wholesale suppliers of aquatic 
plants in the Perth region.

•	 Held	four training sessions on Amazon Frogbit and 
other aquatic weeds for land managers.



12

Coordinated by Dr Rose Weerasinghe and Natasha Bowden

PROGRAM PARTNERS: East Swan River Contiguous Local Authority Group (ESR CLAG) – Towns of 
Bassendean and Victoria Park and Cities of Bayswater, Belmont and Swan and Department of Health.

FUNDED BY: ESR CLAG, City of Armadale.

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: The Mozzie Wise Education Program was developed as a key component of 
SERCUL’s integrated mosquito management approach within the Perth Region. SERCUL produced the 
Mozzie Wise Education Program and associated resource materials, with the support of the Department of 
Health WA. 

The aim of the program is to educate local communities and school children on all aspects of mosquito 
breeding prevention and personal protection and to increase children’s science knowledge to help them 
understand the effect of their actions on the environment. Informed communities that act upon their 
knowledge play a critical role in preventing mosquito borne-diseases, providing mosquito control and 
reducing the use of chemicals.

The Mozzie Wise School Educational Program is linked to the relevant Science Learning Area of the 
National Curriculum and provides a Teacher’s Guide for levels from Kindergarten through to High School.

Mozzie Wise Program

Environmental EDUCATION

PROGRAM OUTCOMES

•	 Presented ‘Mozzie Wise Education Program and its Success’ at the 
National Conference of Environmental Health Australia; 

•	 Participated at Department of Health Annual Contiguous Local 
Authority Group (CLAG) Forum;

•	 Mozzie Wise presentation at City of Armadale Mosquito 
Management Forum; 

•	 Mozzie Wise presentation at the Bindaring Community Group 
Wetland Forum, Bassendean; 

•	 Continued the Mozzie Wise Educational Program partnership with 
the East Swan River CLAG group (Towns of Bassendean and Victoria 
Park and Cities of Bayswater, Belmont and Swan); 

•	 A Mozzie Wise community awareness display, material 
distribution and surveys were conducted at Autumn River Festival, 
City of Bayswater;

•	 Conducted two Mozzie Wise school holiday workshops for 40 
students at Environment House, City of Bayswater; 

•	 Mozzie Wise educational activity stall, material distribution 
and mosquito management surveys conducted at the Community 
Science Expo, City of Canning;

•	 Conducted three Mozzie Wise Education Workshops for 75 
students at Biology, Earth and Environmental Science (BEES) day;

•	 School incursions - presented 12 Being Mozzie Wise school 
incursions to 356 students.

Children learning about Mozzie Wise at 
the Community Science Expo 2018 
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PROGRAM OUTCOMES
•	 Completed an 18 month partnership with 

Waste Wise Schools.

•	 Continued a three year grant program with 
the City of Armadale.

•	 Completed a two year partnership with the 
City of Cockburn.

•	 Continued an ongoing open-ended 
partnership with the City of Canning.

•	 Total of 20 Workshops delivered with 420 
people attending.

•	 Delivered nine Reducing Waste 
workshops across Perth, Albany and 
Bunbury.

•	 Delivered three Sustainability Workshops 
in Perth for Wanslea, Bright Futures and 
Meerilinga.

•	 Trialled the Biodiversity focus sessions 
in general workshops in preparation for the 
new Biodiversity workshop in 2019.

•	 Completed the Sustainability Directory for 
Early Years Educators in the City of Canning 
and continued the Directory with the City of 
Cockburn.

•	 Attended four community events in this 
period; Community Science Expo - Aug 
2018, Teddy Bear’s Picnic in Cockburn - Oct 
2018, Piara Waters Festival - Nov 2018 and 
Catchments, Corridors and Coasts Expo - 
Jan 2019.

Little Green Steps WA Program (LGSWA)

li�le green s
te

ps

Coordinated by Megan Mentz – Program Manager, Kylie Hosking – Education Officer,  
Amy Warne – Education Officer and Anne Pettit – Education Officer

PROGRAM PARTNERS AND FUNDED BY: Cities of Armadale, Canning, Cockburn, Gosnells and the 
Waste Authority.

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: LGSWA is a program of the Australian Association for Environmental Education 
WA Chapter with HR management provided by SERCUL.

LGSWA supports Education for Sustainability (EfS) in the early years sector. This includes childcare 
centres, family day care, primary schools, preschools, kindergartens, and out of school hours care 
services for children aged 0–8 years. LGSWA provides professional development workshops, resources, 
newsletters, ideas, expo demonstrations and networking opportunities to anyone that would like to 
improve their understanding of sustainability and link these practices with the Early Years Learning 
Framework and the National Quality Standard.

LGSWA has partnered with the Cities of Armadale, Canning, Cockburn, Gosnells and the Waste Authority 
this year. Each partnership entails an LGSWA staff member focusing specifically in two local government 
areas for the equivalent of one day a week, the City of Armadale for half a day a week, the City of 
Gosnells for half a day a week for 6 months and the Waste Authority for half a day a week. 

1380 people subscribed to LGSWA mailing list

Environmental EDUCATION

9
VOLUNTEERS

400
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$20 000
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Coordinated by Caitlin Conway and Melinda Snowball

PROGRAM PARTNERS AND FUNDED BY: 
Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions, Parks and Wildlife Service and the State 
NRM Program.

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: SERCUL’s volunteer 
management program allows volunteers to learn, 
gain experience and give back to the community 
whilst contributing valuable on-ground and 
administrative work. In 2018-19, the program has 
accommodated numerous corporate volunteering 
groups, regular volunteering groups and individual 
volunteers who have all helped SERCUL enormously. 
Based on their skill set and interests, these 
volunteers have assisted with work both at SERCUL 
and on-ground at SERCUL’s many project sites. 
SERCUL would like to thank all the volunteers 
for their continued dedication and support to 
our organisation.

A special mention to our  
regular volunteers:

Doug Murphy – 217 HOURS

Rosa Alcala – 141 HOURS

Emily Rankin – 115 HOURS

Bentley Health Unit – 167 HOURS

Volunteer Program

Top left: BCCG Volunteer 
planting at Vellgrove, 

Top right: Baker Hughes GE 
Volunteer planting, Bottom 

left: International students Earth 
Assist planting, Bottom right: 

Volunteers planting at Bush 
Cares Big Day Out.

Community CAPACITY

73
VOLUNTEERS

927
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$46 350
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Coordinated by Dan Friesen, Monica Estrada, Jose 
Alcala, Farina Gandadjaja, Melinda Snowball and 
Amy Krupa

FUNDED BY: Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions, Parks and Wildlife 
Service; State NRM Community Stewardship 
Program; South West Group through the Myer 
Foundation and SERCUL.

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: Engaging and supporting 
our community remains a major focus for SERCUL, 
where we serve as a hub for environmental 
groups to build their capacity, enable them 
to access funding and ensuring their project 
success by establishing strong partnerships. As 
community groups are as diverse as they are 
many, we adapt our assistance to suit each of their 
individual needs.

Examples of how SERCUL provides assistance to 
community groups:
•	 grant writing;

•	 grant support and management;

•	 access to volunteer labour;

•	 access to equipment;

•	 developing volunteer work plans;

•	 hosting community events;

•	 technical advice and support;

•	 plant ID;

•	 weed control techniques;

•	 educational opportunities;

•	 training workshops;

•	 insurances and

•	 administration services.

SERCUL helped the Friends of Samson Park 
reform and have provided intensive advice 
on governance and group structure. SERCUL 
will continue to work with other groups in the 
Fremantle area to improve their capacity through a 
partnership with the South West Group.

SERCUL provides financial management and/or 
payroll assistance to the following groups:
•	 Bannister Creek Catchment Group;

•	 Wilson Wetlands Action Group;

•	 Canning River Regional Park Volunteers;

•	 Friends of Queens Park Bushland;

•	 Belmont and Bayswater Rivercare Association;

•	 Australian Association for Environmental 
Education WA Chapter.

SERCUL sponsored grants and/or grant 
applications for the following groups:
•	 Friends of Paganoni Swamp;

•	 Friends of Wireless Hill;

•	 Friends of the Spectacles;

•	 Friends of Fremantle Beaches;

•	 Murdoch Environmental Restoration Group;

•	 Friends of Forrestdale;

•	 Friends of Hollis Park;

•	 Friends of Clontarf Hill;

•	 Cockburn Community Wildlife Corridor;

•	 Friends of Bungendore Park;

•	 Friends of Bull Creek Catchment;

•	 Friends of Booragoon and Blue Gum Lakes;

•	 Wilson Wetlands Action Group;

•	 Friends of Brixton St Wetland;

•	 Friends of Harrisdale Swamp;

•	 Friends of Jandakot Regional Park and

•	 Friends of Cape Peron.

39 FRIENDS OF COMMUNITY 
GROUPS ASSISTED

15 SPONSORED GRANTS 
SUPPORTING 12 COMMUNITY 

LANDCARE GROUPS

6 COMMUNITY GROUPS 
PROVIDED PUBLIC LIABILITY 

INSURANCE

HOST 9 WEB PAGES FOR 
COMMUNITY GROUPS

HOSTED 23 COMMUNITY 
PLANTING EVENTS

Community Group Support

Community CAPACITY

Left: Samson Park planting day, 
Right: Volunteers enjoying an 

afternoon tea
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Community CAPACITY

Coordinated by Dan Friesen

FUNDED BY: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Parks and Wildlife Service; State 
NRM Community Stewardship Program and SERCUL.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Through this project SERCUL sponsors and supports nine community groups 
to deliver on-ground natural resource management outcomes. This enables volunteer groups to access 
environmental funding to deliver on ground outcomes and empower communities to take ownership of 
their local natural area. Friends of groups are a vital part in stewardship of our environment as they are 
passionate about protecting and enhancing our reserves and raising environmental awareness to the 
broader community. Through supporting these groups SERCUL ensures that the groups continue to deliver 
outstanding on-ground outcomes with the support they require to do so confidently, with the skills they 
need and with sound project planning.

PAGANONI SWAMP
PROJECT PARTNERS: Friends of Paganoni Swamp, 
DBCA, City of Rockingham, Main Roads.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Dieback Mitigation Project 
- this project is protecting the Banksia woodland 
(Threatened Ecological Community) at Paganoni 
Swamp by treating and preventing the spread of 
dieback within the reserve. This project will first 
map and ground truth the extent of the banksia 
woodland within the reserve and then construct 
dieback preventative access tracks and three wash 
down stations. 

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 1394 Seedlings planted

•	 1050 Volunteer hours supported

•	 28 ha Weed management

•	 337.5 ha Feral animal control

•	 0.4 km Fencing to control unauthorised access

THE SPECTACLES
PROJECT PARTNERS: Friend of the Spectacles, 
Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions (DBCA).

PROJECT OVERVIEW: The Friends of the 
Spectacles in partnership with DBCA are 
undertaking 4 ha of revegetation over the next 
three years, converting a highly degraded section of 
the reserve into a natural native buffer to improve 
the overall resilience of the reserve and improving 
biodiversity and habitat values.

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 538 Volunteer hours supported

•	 2300 Seedlings planted

•	 Three Community events undertaken by the 
friends of group

This project also receives funding from SALP, Perth NRM, 
Community Advisory Committee Grants and the  
City of Kwinana.

CLONTARF HILL
PROJECT PARTNERS: Friends of Clontarf Hill, City 
of Fremantle, Main Roads.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: To maintain and improve 
remnant tuart woodland and enhance the Waves 
to Wetland habitat corridor from Bibra Lake by 
revegetating local reserves, raising environmental 
awareness and providing community events for 
local residents to participate in NRM activities.

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 Hosted two community planting events

•	 350 Volunteer hours supported

•	 900 Plants installed

•	 6.5 ha Feral animal control (foxes)

Empowering Communities 
Enabling and Sponsoring Volunteer Groups Delivering 
On-Ground Outcomes 

Planting at Mosman Park boundary 
with the City of Fremantle

BULL CREEK
PROJECT PARTNERS: Friends of Bull Creek 
Catchment, City of Melville.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: This project is an 
extension of the existing works already 
happening within the reserve. SERCUL will 
assist the group in hosting community 
planting days and weed control. For a 
detailed report on Bull Creek see 
page 24.
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Community CAPACITY

Empowering Communities Continued

HOLLIS PARK
PROJECT PARTNERS: Friends of Hollis Park,  
City of Fremantle.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Host community planting 
events over the next three years to assist the local 
community to establish a habitat corridor link from 
South Beach to Clontarf Hill and the greater Waves 
to Wetland habitat corridor to Bibra Lake.

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 Hosted one community planting event

•	 1200 Seedlings planted

•	 384 Volunteer hours supported

LEIGHTON BEACH
PROJECT PARTNERS:  Friends of Fremantle 
Beaches, City of Fremantle.

PROJECT OVERVIEW:  To improve and enhance 
our coastal natural areas to improve resilience 
against climate change and erosion impacts of 
our coastal dune systems by hosting community 
planting events over the next three years.

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 Hosted one community planting event

•	 200 Volunteer hours supported (estimated)

•	 1000 Seedlings planted

BLACKWOOD AVENUE 
PROJECT PARTNERS: Friends of Blackwood Ave, 
Cockburn Community Wildlife Corridor.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: To enhance ecological 
linkages while engaging and activating the broader 
community in the Waves to Wetland habitat 
corridor by hosting annual planting events over the 
next three years.

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 Hosted one community planting event

•	 180 Volunteer hours supported 

•	 800 Seedlings planted

WIRELESS HILL
PROJECT PARTNERS: Friends of Wireless Hill, City 
of Melville.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: The Friends of Wireless 
Hill have undertaken the hand weeding of large 
sections of the A class Wireless Hill reserve to 
protect and enhance highly sensitive bushland. 
This project will assist in controlling invasive weeds 
across 8.5 ha of sensitive urban bushland with high 
floristic values with the intent of demonstrating the 
advantages of hand weeding over chemical control 
methods.

PROJECT OUTCOMES
Fortnightly hand weeding of perennial veldt grass in 
the high priority areas of Wireless Hill has continued 
this year. A focus on the removal of Lachenalia 
reflexa has occurred due to significant outbreaks.

Direct seeding of Zamia and other native 
provenance species has occurred this year in areas 
where weed control has taken place.

Left: Planting with Friends of 
Fremantle Beaches,  

Right: Planting day at Hollis Park

BOOYEEMBARA PARK
PROJECT PARTNERS:  Friends of Booyeembara 
Park, City of Fremantle.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Host community planting 
events over the next three years to improve and 
increase native habitat across a largely degraded 
site while engaging and activating the local 
community in natural resource management.

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 Hosted one community planting event

•	 2000 Seedlings planted

•	 17 Volunteers

•	 63 Volunteer hours supported
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Work for the Dole Program
Coordinated by Isabella Streckhardt

FUNDED BY: atWork Australia and the Australian Government.  

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: SERCUL continued to implement two six month Work for the Dole programs 
from June to December 2018, through the job service provider atWork Australia. The programs enabled 
us to assist community groups by supporting their activities with in-kind labour through activities such as 
planting, weed control, woody weed removal, erosion control, track maintenance and rubbish removal. This 
service is provided free of charge and has been a valuable resource in assisting groups to improve their 
outcomes and tackle tasks that would otherwise be daunting for volunteers to accomplish.

VICTORIA PARK/CANNINGTON CONSERVATION
A slow start to this program with no participants for the 
first few weeks and an average of two participants per 
day throughout the program. The small and dedicated 
team still achieved tremendous outcomes across a wide 
variety of natural areas and urban bushlands across 
the South East Perth metro area including seedling 
installation, weed control including Typha removal, 
woody weed control of Acacia longifolia, maintenance 
of boardwalks and seed collecting. 

SPEARWOOD/ROCKINGHAM CONSERVATION  
After an initial slow start, the Spearwood Rockingham 
Conservation Activity gained great momentum and 
had an average of six participants over the program. 
The team completed a wide variety of conservation 
activities across a large variety of urban bushland and 
wetland sites, such as planting, weed removal, power 
tool training and path maintenance as well as learning 
about JSEA’s and abiding by OHS guidelines to create 
a safe and positive work environment, which resulted in 
zero incidents over the project. 

GROUPS SUPPORTED BY THE PROGRAM: Armadale 
Gosnells Landcare Group, City of Cockburn, Cockburn 
Community Wildlife Corridor, DBCA, Canning River 
Regional Park Volunteers, Friends of Jandakot Regional 
Park, Friends of Bull Creek Catchment, Friends of 
Booragoon and Blue Gum Lakes, Friends of Mary 
Carroll Wetlands, Friends of Point Peron, Friends 
of Hollis Park, Friends of the Spectacles, Friends of 
Paganoni Swamp and Bannister Creek Catchment 
Group.

Left to right – completed planting 
and bagging at Lot 800, 

Cockburn; removing Typha at 
Bannister Creek and oiling the 

boardwalks at SERCUL.

Community CAPACITY

7 HA of Weed Management

18
PARTICIPANTS

3093
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
labour$154 650

Seedlings installed
53 710
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Canning Community Landcare
Coordinated by Cat Williams

PROJECT PARTNERS: SERCUL, Bannister Creek Catchment Group and City of Canning.

SERCUL, via a funding partnership with the City of Canning, continues to provide support to the Canning 
environmental community and Bannister Creek Catchment Group (BCCG) through provision of a community 
landcare officer. It has been a busy year for the BCCG, continuing its landcare work through 2019 and 
successfully securing funding for three new projects.

Community CAPACITY

BCCG Canning Linkage Project
FUNDED BY: State NRM Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Aligning closely to the City of 
Canning’s Local Biodiversity Strategy this project was 
designed to fulfil several objectives. One important 
part of this project is to educate and involve broader 
community participation in landcare volunteering, and 
for this we need to look for areas beyond the Bannister 
Creek Reserve. Two suitable sites of parkland with 
cleared bushland at the Ferndale Flats (Ferndale) and 
at Adenia Centenary Reserve (Riverton) were identified 
with the City of Canning, where bushland linkages and 
corridors could be created or improved. 

This project also contains a component for the 
Bannister Creek Reserve, where we have concentrated 
on the edges of the bushland, planting species suitable 
for creating strong and resilient edges to discourage 
weeds and garden waste dumping which is becoming a 
common problem in our reserve.

366
PARTICIPANTS

632
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

$21 240

Seedlings installed
10 617

value of 
volunteering

Top left: Lynwood SHS 
students planting; Top right: 

USA students volunteering; 
Bottom left: Paspalum removal; 
Bottom right: City of Canning and 

Work for the Dole planting



20

Canning Community Landcare continued

Community CAPACITY

FUNDED BY: Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions Community 
Rivercare Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: This project commenced in 
July 2018 and will run for three years. In the first year 
we have concentrated on weed control, performing 
manual weed removal of species such as Paspalum 
dilatatum. The project area includes 0.8 ha of DBCA 
Canning River Regional Park land and our intent is 
to create a buffer zone free of priority weeds, which 
includes Watsonia and Blackberry proliferating nearby 
in the Regional Park. Through this we hope to protect 
the Bannister Creek Reserve and the many years of 
community effort that has been contributed to its 
improvement.

We are now planning for year two where the majority 
of riparian planting will be carried out along with 
supportive weed control. We have also begun building 
a seed bank for local provenance plant propagation, 
adding 43 new accessions to our current seed 
holding. Many of these species have been collected 
from the Regional Park property.

5.35 HA Bush Forever Site

73
PARTICIPANTS

247
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$11 798

Seedlings installed
925

Enhancement of Bannister Creek and Canning River 
Regional Park Boundary

Top left: Willetton Interact 
removing Summer False Daisy; 

Top right: Bushcares Big Day Out; 
Bottom left: Paspalum removal by 

SERCUL volunteers; Bottom right: 
Willetton Interact.

20
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Improving Understorey 
Diversity in Bannister Creek 
Catchment Bushlands
FUNDED BY: Perth NRM through the Swan Alcoa 
Landcare Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Our SALP focus remains 
on the Living Streams portion of Bannister Creek 
in Lynwood and on the Vellgrove Eco-Corridor in 
Parkwood. Weed species have been well controlled 
through both sites but it has been difficult to 
establish understorey. The natural senescence of a 
few larger tree and shrub species has created some 
gaps in vegetation where we have performed the 
majority of our revegetation, deliberately targeting 
typical yet absent species. We get natural seedling 
recruitment of Dodonaea hackettiana in our Living 
Streams site, a Priority 4 species which itself was 
planted several years ago. Unfortunately few 
other natives are as successful as this plant and 
so we continue to assist by planting, aided by the 
enthusiastic students of the nearby Bannister Creek 
Primary School. 

At the Vellgrove Eco-Corridor we have continued 
wetland planting of Carex apressa, making use of 
this species ability to strip nutrients and pollutants 
from the drainage channel. Vellgrove is home to a 
small colony of Quenda (Isoodon obesulus subsp. 
fusciventer) and small shrub species have been 
planted to connect and develop understorey for the 
protection of these marsupials.

Other Activities 
In addition to the three main projects described 
support was provided for five other projects within 
the City of Canning, including: 

•	 the City led, Lambertia Creek Living Stream;
•	 Earth Day activity with the Canning River 

Regional Park Volunteers;
•	 Jandakot Regional Park woody weed control;
•	 Adenia Saltmarsh cutting harvest and
•	 Canning River weed removal and planting.

The projects outside of the City of Canning that 
were supported by hosting volunteers or working 
alongside contractors: 

•	 Yule Brook;
•	 Beckenham Open Space;
•	 Alison Baird;
•	 Wright Brook and
•	 Horley Wetland.

Canning Community Landcare continued

Community CAPACITY

198
PARTICIPANTS

686
PARTICIPANTS

502

632

contributed

contributed

hours of volunteer labour

hours of volunteer labour

$23 480

$37 882
Seedlings installed

Seedlings installed

3 242

5 516

Left: Cat removing Typha; Middle: 
Riparian planting; Right: Bannister 
Creek Primary Schools Tree Day

value of 
volunteering

value of 
volunteering
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Drainage Nutrient 
Intervention Program
(DNIP)

Canning River 
Restoration

Coordinated by Daniel Millea

PROGRAM PARTNERS: Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions, Parks and Wildlife 
Service; City of Canning; City of Gosnells; 
Department of Water and Environmental Regulation 
and the Water Corporation.

FUNDED BY: Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions, Parks and  
Wildlife Service.

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: SERCUL assists the 
Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions Parks and Wildlife Service with 
coordinating and delivering monitoring and 
maintenance activities at Drainage Nutrient 
Intervention Program sites within the Cities of 
Canning and Gosnells.

PROJECT OUTCOMES: SERCUL’s role includes 
the coordination of project partners including the 
local government authorities, Water Corporation 
and Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation; vegetation and water quality monitoring 
and planting and weed control. Active sites within 
this period include Wharf Street Wetland, Anvil Way 
Wetland, Liege Street Wetland and Bickley Basin.

Coordinated by Russell Walczak

PROJECT PARTNERS: Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions, Parks and Wildlife 
Service and the City of Canning.

FUNDED BY: State NRM Program

PROJECT OVERVIEW: The project encompasses 
two sites within the Canning River Regional Park 
in which the aim is to revegetate degraded areas 
while also completing weed control of priority 
species to protect and enhance existing remnant 
vegetation and also allow new revegetation areas 
to be established. Currently in its fifth year of 
management by SERCUL the project continues to 
see excellent results.

PROJECT OUTCOMES: As the project enters its 
sixth year of funding, it continues to see excellent 
results as we continue to expand the revegetation 
areas and control priority weeds across two sites 
spanning 12 ha within the Canning River Regional 
Park. We successfully controlled large populations 
of Blackberry and Pampas Grass across the sites 
with great success which was also aided by DBCA’s 
efforts on woody weed control within the park. 
Some encouraging signs this funding round was 
seeing large amounts of Samphire germinating and 
colonising new areas in response to many years 
of effective weed control. Samphire is an integral 
component of the Temperate Salt Marsh vegetation 
community which dominates the site and is listed as 
a Threatened Ecological Community.

Year 10 students from Cannington Community 
College Ed Support Unit helped install seedlings 
with support from the Bannister Creek Catchment 
Group.

Landcare & RESTORATION

7
PARTICIPANTS

21
PARTICIPANTS

97

74

contributed

contributed

hours of volunteer labour

hours of volunteer labour

$4863

$1470

Seedlings installed

Seedlings installed

500

10 143
value of 
volunteering

value of 
volunteering

22
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Booragoon and Blue Gum Lakes
Coordinated by Russell Walczak

PROJECT PARTNERS: City of Melville, Friends of 
Booragoon and Blue Gum Lakes.

FUNDED BY: State NRM Community Stewardship 
Program and Perth NRM through the Swan Alcoa 
Landcare Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Booragoon and Blue Gum Lakes 
are both ecologically and culturally important wetlands 
which are part of the Beelair Wetland Chain. This project 
was undertaken in close partnership with the City of 
Melville and the Friends of Booragoon and Blue Gum 
Lakes (FOBBGL) to revegetate degraded areas of the 
reserve to help improve biodiversity and enhance the 
public amenities of the natural areas. 

PROJECT OUTCOMES: The revegetation which was 
planted by the Friends group, Aquinas College and 
SERCUL volunteers has done exceptionally well this year 
due to a high water table giving the plants access to 
water through to Summer, allowing them to thrive. 

Landcare & RESTORATION

54
PARTICIPANTS

80
PARTICIPANTS

198

480

contributed

contributed

hours of volunteer labour

hours of volunteer labour

$7200

$9600

Seedlings installed

Seedlings installed

27 203

4500
Coordinated by Dan Friesen

PROJECT PARTNERS: Canning River Residents 
Environment Protection Association (CRREPA) and the  
City of Canning.

FUNDED BY: State NRM Community Stewardship 
Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Yagan Reserve forms part 
of the Bush Forever site 338 and forms a habitat 
corridor connecting the Canning River with the Bull 
Creek Reserve. This project is the first stage of a long 
term vision to enhance the understory, increasing its 
ecological functions by restoring natural habitat values 
and contributing to improving water quality of the Bull 
Creek Catchment prior to it’s entry to the Canning River. 
Through a staged approach this project is controlling 
woody weeds such as Japanese peppers, blackberry, 
lantana and Acacia longifolia in addition to managing 
the weedy understory replacing it with native sedges 
and midstory.

PROJECT OUTCOMES: Hosted an Ardross Primary 
School planting event with year 6 students.

Yagan Reserve Restoration

Left: Aquinas College volunteers planting 
at Booragoon Lake; Right: Students 
from Ardross Primary planting at 

Yagan Reserve

value of 
volunteering

value of 
volunteering
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Bull Creek Reserve Restoration
Coordinated by Dan Friesen

PROJECT PARTNERS: Friends of Bull Creek Catchment, Rossmoyne Senior High School Bush Rangers and 
the City of Melville.

FUNDED BY: State NRM Community Stewardship Program and the Swan Canning River Recovery Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Looking back to 2012-2013 when the Friends of Bull Creek Catchment (FoBCC) and 
SERCUL first partnered to commence restoration efforts at Bull Creek it seemed an insurmountable task 
to tackle the hectares of blackberry thickets infesting the site, ‘The Wall’. Commencing with a small SALP 
grant that undertook a small section of woody weed management, SERCUL enabled the Friends of Bull 
Creek Catchment to build their expertise and capacity, supported their activities, hosted community planting 
events and undertook the tasks beyond the capacity of FoBCC. Fast forward seven years later, through a 
strong partnership, we have now expanded our management to seven hectares of the reserve, eliminated 
the blackberry from approximately one km of creek line, and planted hundreds of thousands of seedlings. 
Sections managed under early State NRM funding now resemble remnant sites barely distinguishable as 
rehabilitation sites.

Landcare & RESTORATION

6.5 HA weed control

2934
hours of volunteer labour

value of volunteering
$146 700

Seedlings installed
12 000

Left: Restored area of Bull 
Creek; Right: Planting day in 

Bull Creek Woodland area

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 Through Swan Canning River Recovery Program funding provided by Perth NRM expanded 

blackberry and various woody weed control across an additional hectare of creek line.

•	 Site preparation to install a further 60,000 seedlings in the 2019-20 financial year.

•	 Enabled the Friends of Bull Creek Catchment to secure funding through the State NRM Community 
Stewardship Program for the next three years.

•	 Provided three Power tool training workshops for Conservation Volunteers Australia Aboriginal 
training program.

•	 Installed 12 000 native seedlings.

•	 Hosted three community planting events.

•	 6.5 ha of weed management including control of Blackberry, Acacia longifolia, paspalum, nut grass, 
Isolepis prolifera, lantana, papyrus and Japanese peppers. 
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Yule Brook and Horley Road Wetland
Coordinated by Dr Rose Weerasinghe and Melinda Snowball

PROJECT PARTNERS: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions.

FUNDED BY: State NRM Community Stewardship Small Grants.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: This project takes in the Yule Brook and Horley Road Wetland in Beckenham and will 
contribute to the ongoing weed management and rehabilitation of these sites through previous State NRM 
and other funded projects. 

SERCUL has been trialling integrated approaches of rehabilitation techniques to improve the Horley Road 
Wetland since 2016. The Horley Road Wetland was recognised as a Healthy Wetland Habitat and initial 
rehabilitation activities were funded by the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions 
(DBCA). The wetland was previously dominated by exotic grasses (Paspalum distichum and Cynodon 
dactylon) and other weeds, which can prevent the germination of native wetland species, reduce 
macroinvertebrate habitat variety and can provide pockets of stagnant water for mosquitoes and midges  
to breed.

The Yule Brook section of this project focuses on the control of invasive weed species such as Sagittaria, 
Blackberry and Taro as well as revegetating degraded areas within the brook to minimise space for weed 
species to germinate and establish. Planting will commence in July 2019.

Landcare & RESTORATION

PROJECT OUTCOMES 

Horley Road Wetland:
•	 Chemical weed control of couch and other weeds 

conducted by SERCUL staff;

•	 Prescribed burning trials of grasses conducted by 
our neighbours, Gosnells Volunteer Fire Service on 
an in-kind basis;  

•	 Second stage of dead couch biomass removal and 
wetland preparation conducted with voluntary 
consultancy and supervision from wetland 
consultant Karl Karu.  

•	 Two alien trees removed from edge of the wetland 
with the support by our neighbours, Gosnells 
Volunteer Fire Service on an in-kind basis; 

•	 Natural regeneration of Bolboschoenus caldwellii 
(foreshore) and Eleocharis acuta (inundated area) 
has occurred and 

•	 Overall wetland hydrological capacity and 
biodiversity increased after rehabilitation of the 
wetland.

Yule Brook:
•	 Chemical weed control of targeted woody 

weeds, invasive weeds and general winter weeds 
conducted by SERCUL staff.

We appreciate wetland consultant Karl Karu 
and his wife Sandy Karu for their voluntary 
consultancy and supervision for the project.  

15
PARTICIPANTS

164
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$8175

Left: Couch removal in May 2019



26 26

Bowra & O’Dea and Trillion Trees 
Beckenham Memorial Groves Project
Coordinated by John Maliunas and Amy Krupa

PROJECT PARTNERS: Bowra & O’Dea Funeral Directors, Trillion Trees and Western Australian  
Planning Commission.

FUNDED BY: Bowra & O’Dea Funeral Directors.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: The Bowra & O’Dea and Trillion Trees Beckenham Memorial Groves project 
commenced in 2008 with the goal to create Memorial Groves for the families of Bowra & O’Dea clients. 
Each Grove has approximately 4000 trees and native plants. This project will continue until 2022, with each 
established Memorial Grove being preserved for a minimum of 25 years.

PROJECT OUTCOMES: This year we hosted two major planting days. Sathaya Sai planted 2500 seedlings 
into the 2019 site. Bowra & O’Dea staff members and Trillion Trees volunteers hosted a remembrance 
ceremony and planting session attended by 350 people who came to celebrate 130 years of Bowra and 
O’Dea servicing the West Australian community and planted over 1000 seedlings.

Landcare & RESTORATION

367
PARTICIPANTS

570
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$28 500

Seedlings installed
4000

Left to right: Sathaya Sai 
volunteers planting, Volunteers 

at the 130 years celebration.



27

0.4 HA weed control

Wetlands to Waves Habitat Corridor
Coordinated by Dan Friesen

PROJECT LOCATION: Pioneer Park, City of Cockburn.

PROJECT PARTNERS: Cockburn Community Wildlife Corridor and the 
City of Cockburn.

FUNDED BY: State NRM Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: The Wetlands to Waves Habitat Corridor connects 
the Beeliar Wetland chain from Bibra Lake to the Indian Ocean. This 
project was specifically looking at restoring a section of degraded bush 
in City of Cockburn managed Pioneer Park adjacent to Bibra Lake and 
the recently cleared land on the Roe 8 footprint. This project was initiated 
in order to support the recently activated community enabling them 
to engage in restoration activities and provide them with guidance, 
workshops and training opportunities in order to enhance their efforts in 
restoring what is one of very few East-West habitat corridors in the Perth 
Metropolitan Region.

PROJECT OUTCOMES: Hosted two community planting events with 
the Cockburn Community Wildlife Corridor Group and two community 
workshops on propagation with APACE nursery and an Aboriginal 
engagement/bush tucker workshop with Bindi Bindi Dreaming.

Landcare & RESTORATION

1774
hours of volunteer labour

value of volunteering
$88 700

Seedlings installed
7000

Woodman Point Restoration
Coordinated by Dan Friesen

PROJECT LOCATION: Woodman Point, Coogee.

PROJECT PARTNERS: Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions.

FUNDED BY: State NRM Community Grants Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Woodman Point Regional Park is 
a 252 ha reserve situated 9 km south of Fremantle and 
contains a wide variety of ecosystems from shrublands, 
heath and scrub to Quindalup woodlands. It includes 
tuart and Rottnest tea tree communities both of which 
have seen considerable decline due to the increased 
pressures of urbanisation on our coastal regions. This 
project specifically addressed a 0.8 hectare section of a 
degraded primary dune system providing brushing and 
restoring native habitat in order to improve the reserves 
overall resilience and decrease the impact of coastal 
erosion by providing dune stabilisation works.

PROJECT OUTCOMES: This project is in its final year and 
has seen the infill planting of 1120 seedlings, brushing 
to stabilise the coastal dune system to assist planting 
success and green stock maintenance work undertaken 
by Work for the Dole participants and SERCUL 
volunteers. Feral animal control of foxes and rabbits was 
carried out by licensed contractors.

7
PARTICIPANTS

63
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$3150

Seedlings installed
1120

Right: Planting at Woodman 
point by Work for the Dole; 
Left: Wetlands to Waves 

project site.
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Coordinated by Dan Friesen

PROJECT PARTNERS: Conservation Volunteers Australia, City 
of Gosnells and Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions, Parks and Wildlife Service.

FUNDED BY: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions, Parks and Wildlife Service.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: This project is an extension of the Mandarin 
Road Urban Waterways Renewal site and in partnership with the 
City of Gosnells and DBCA, SERCUL will address the infestation of 
introduced grasses and various woody weeds and the revegetation 
of 16,446 plants (native wetland and dryland species) across 
3059 m² of Lakewook Cove Reserve. This will improve the sites 
biodiversity, increase natural habitat values and provide water 
quality outcomes for the Bickley Brook.

Landcare & RESTORATION

0.3 HA weed control

Seedlings installed
4401

Coordinated by Dan Friesen

PROJECT LOCATIONS: Brixton St Wetlands, Paganoni Swamp, Forrestdale Lake.

PROJECT PARTNERS: Friends of Brixton St Wetlands, Friends of Paganoni Swamp, Friends of 
Forrestdale Lake and Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions.

FUNDED BY: Perth NRM through the National Landcare Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: This project is protecting and improving the condition of ‘Banksia 
Woodlands’ and ‘Clay Pans’ listed Threatened Ecological Communities (TEC) of the Swan NRM 
region. The project will manage threats and restore habitat at a local scale supporting regional 
and landscape scale benefits of improved condition, ecological resilience, connectivity and climate 
change adaptability. The project established baseline vegetation condition, fauna presence and 
weed distribution data enabling the outcomes demonstrated. Through engaging the community in 
planning, implementation, training and workshops the project is improving community awareness, 
understanding, and capacity for best practice TEC management.

PROJECT OUTCOMES:
•	 91.1 ha of priority weed control

•	 773 ha of feral animal control

•	 Two community engagement workshops

•	 Six community field days

•	 One Rare Flora survey

•	 Two weed distribution surveys

•	 1 km of fencing/access control

•	 Banksia woodland mapping

•	 Seed collection

Living Landscapes
Improving the condition of Threatened Ecological 
Communities in the Swan NRM Region, Stage 1

Right: Planting Forrestdale Lake; 
Left: Friends of Paganoni 

Swamp volunteers

Bickley Brook WQIP  
Lakewook Cove Reserve Restoration
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Hydrocotyle ranunculoides Eradication Program
Coordinated by Matt Grimbly

PROGRAM PARTNERS: Perth NRM, Hydrocotyle Working Group (City of Canning; Department of 
Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions; Water Corporation; Wilson Wetlands Action Group).

FUNDED BY: Swan Canning River Recovery Program 2.0 through Perth NRM.

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: Hydrocotyle ranunculoides has been a major problem in the Canning River and its 
tributaries since the early 1990’s, at times covering the Canning River from bank to bank upstream from Kent 
St Weir. This project is a continuation of the first round of the Swan Canning River Recovery Project which 
greatly reduced Hydrocotyle coverage and abundance. Now that Hydrocotyle levels have been reduced the 
goal is to completely eradicate it from the Canning River Catchment by project completion in June 2020. 

There is no mature Hydrocotyle remaining in the entire catchment and it is now germinating from seed only. 
It is expected that by the time of project completion in 2020 the seedbank will have been exhausted and 
Hydrocotyle will have been eradicated.

PROGRAM OUTCOMES
•	 21 hectares of weed management of Hydrocotyle.

•	 No mature Hydrocotyle remaining in the entire catchment.

Landcare & RESTORATION

The extent of Hydrocotyle remaining in the Canning River Catchment. Hydrocotyle continues to 
germinate in these areas – it is necessary to continue Hydrocotyle removal until germination ceases.
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Coordinated by Dan Friesen and Dr Rose Weerasinghe

PROGRAM PARTNERS: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions; City of Gosnells; 
City of Armadale; City of Canning; City of Swan; City of Belmont; City of Cockburn; Water Corporation; 
Conservation Volunteers Australia and The Wetland Centre Cockburn.

FUNDED BY: Swan Canning River Recovery Program 2.0 through Perth NRM.

PROGRAM OVERVIEW
This program researches and manages Amazon Frogbit infestations in the Perth region. The two year 
program aims to determine how salinity levels and wind and waves will affect seed viability and growth rate 
of Amazon Frogbit. Management of existing and new infestations are occurring through the program as well 
as the provision of advice to land managers to establish Amazon Frogbit management plans.

PROGRAM OUTCOMES
•	 Researched the set up of field trials of seed viability and growth rate of Amazon Frogbit.

•	 Researched and evaluated the risk of Kidney leaf mud plantain (Heteranthera reniformis).

•	 Responded to and assisted in the control of Amazon Frogbit infestations at:

•	 Belmont Main Drain (City of Belmont/Water Corporation)

•	 Forrestdale/Baileys Main Drain (Water Corporation/Cities of Armadale and Gosnells)

•	 Little Rush Lake (City of Cockburn)

•	 Fountain/Oriole Park (City of Swan) 

•	 Provided technical advice on behalf of infestations at Noble Falls (City of Swan)

•	 Investigated three additional misidentified reports of Amazon Frogbit:

•	 Hydrocotyle bonensaries at Ollie Worrell Reserve in the City of Kalamunda.

•	 Bacopa in two drainage sumps in the City of Canning.

Amazon Frogbit Management Program

Landcare & RESTORATION

Left top and bottom: New weed 
found - Kidney leaf mud plantain; 
Centre: Amazon frogbit close up of 
leaf and roots; Right: Staff controlling 

outbreaks at Little Rush Lake
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Water Quality Monitoring 
Coordinated by Caitlin Conway

PROGRAM OVERVIEW: In 2018-19, SERCUL 
coordinated the Water Quality Monitoring 
Partnership Program in three key catchments of 
the Swan-Canning river system. These programs, 
which were supported by the Department of Water 
and Environmental Regulation (DWER), relevant 
local government authorities, the Department 
of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DoPLH)/
West Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) - 
Whiteman Park and the Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions (DBCA), have 
promoted a cooperative approach to water quality 
monitoring. For each program, SERCUL prepared 
a Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP); conducted 
the sampling, collated and analysed the data and 
produced a report highlighting important findings 
and providing recommendations. Data generated 
by these programs was entered into DWER’s Water 
Information (WIN) database for use by DBCA 
Rivers and Estuaries Branch to implement local 
Water Quality Improvement Plans. SERCUL also 
coordinates independent water quality monitoring 
programs for several local governments in areas 
where water quality is of particular local interest.

Furthermore, SERCUL has provided assistance to 
DWER to sample water, sediment and macrophytes 
for three projects established as part of the 
Drainage Nutrient Intervention Program (DNIP). 
DNIP is funded through DBCA Rivers and Estuaries 
Branch as part of the Healthy Catchments Program, 
which aims to reduce nutrients entering the Swan 
and Canning Rivers.

SERCUL, along with Vivacious Surrounds, also 
prepared Stormwater Quality Management 
Guidelines for the City of Melville, providing the 
City with best practice guidelines to implement 
Water Sensitive Urban Design assets and non-
structural controls to improve stormwater quality. 

PROGRAM OUTCOMES

DWER/LGA Water Quality Partnership Programs:
Three programs implemented: 
•	 Bennett Brook catchment (City of Swan,  

City of Bayswater and Whiteman Park  
(WAPC/DoPLH));

•	 City of South Perth catchments  
(City of South Perth);

•	 Melville Bull Creek catchment and Melville 
Lakes (City of Melville).

Independent water quality monitoring programs 
for LGAs:
Three programs implemented:
•	 Cygnia Cove Estate (City of South Perth);
•	 Lake Claremont (Town of Claremont);
•	 City of Swan Lakes.

Drainage Nutrient Intervention Program: 
Assisted DWER with water (monthly basis), 
sediment and macrophyte (quarterly basis) 
monitoring at three DNIP projects: Anvil Way 
Compensation Basin, Liege Street Wetland and 
Wharf Street Constructed Wetland. 

Prepared Stormwater Quality Management 
Guidelines for the City of Melville

FUNDED BY: Cities of South Perth, Bayswater, 
Swan and Melville; the Town of Claremont; 
Whiteman Park (WAPC); Department of Water and 
Environmental Regulation and Water Corporation 
and supported by Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions, Rivers and 
Estuaries Branch and Department of Water and 
Environmental Regulation. 

Monitoring & RESEARCH

Right: Booragoon Lake; Left: 
Sampling at Piney Lakes

48
sampling  

events

137
sample sites over 10 projects

value$209 445

        SAMPLES COLLECTED

Water Sediment Macrophyte 
599 43 48
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Habitat rehabilitation and saltmarsh mosquito management 
in the Canning River Regional Park tidal flats
Coordinated by Dr Rose Weerasinghe and Caitlin Conway

PROJECT PARTNERS: SERCUL; Curtin University; Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions 
(DBCA) and City of Canning.

FUNDED BY: Lotterywest and National Landcare Program - Environment Small Grants.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: The aim of this project, funded by Lotterywest, is to evaluate the effectiveness of 
the restoration of a tidal influx in improving vector mosquito control and ecosystem function in an area of 
saltmarsh in the unique Canning River Regional Park (CRRP) tidal flats. The first phase of the project was 
to establish the existing ecological condition of the saltmarsh sites. The second phase of the project was to 
conduct structural changes to re-establish tidal influx to the saltmarsh and finally pre and post monitoring 
data was assessed as a long term source reduction approach to control mosquitoes in the CRRP. 

The aim of the saltmarsh research project funded by the Australian Government under the National Landcare 
Program was to educate local community about importance of saltmarshes and to enhance the quality of 
this Threatened Ecological Community and thereby strengthen the ecological linkages it is part of.

Adenia Research Project

Monitoring & RESEARCH

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 Completed all Lotterywest grant funded activities; 

•	 Continued baseline ecological and water quality 
monitoring;

•	 Conducted vegetation mapping and plant survey;

•	 Conducted pre-restoration terrestrial fauna survey; 

•	 Curtin University and North Metropolitan 
TAFE students conducted monitoring of 
macroinvertebrates and water quality in both the 
pools and lagoon. 

•	 Filled mosquito breeding depressions and 
reconnected tides with created small channels;

•	 Collected provenance species seeds and cuttings;

•	 Saltmarsh species propagated at the APACE 
nursery and 

•	 Conducted a collaborative field workshop with 
APACE WA on saltmarsh vegetation rehabilitation.

53
PARTICIPANTS

682
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$33 800

Right: Propagated Samphire 
cuttings; Centre: Samphire workshop 

participants; Bottom left: TAFE students 
monitoring; Top left: Participants learning 

about Samphire cuttings
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Coordinated by Dr Rose Weerasinghe

FUNDED BY: SERCUL in-kind.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: Systematic bio-monitoring at Horley Road Wetland has been conducted by SERCUL 
and volunteers on an in-kind basis since 2016. The Horley Road Wetland was selected for the study due to its 
ecological and sociological value within the Yule Brook system. The information obtained from this research 
can be used to assist wetland managers in managing wetland mosquito populations for human health and 
environmental purposes.

PROJECT OBJECTIVES 
•	 To record ecological changes that may be occurring in the wetland as a result of wetland rehabilitation;

•	 To collect ecological data that will contribute to a better understanding of mosquito breeding in relation 
to other ecological factors in this system and similar systems;

•	 To provide an opportunity for university, TAFE students, and community volunteers to participate and 
learn skills relevant to wetland rehabilitation, ecological monitoring, and analysis.

PROJECT OUTCOMES
•	 Bio-monitoring to understand the rehabilitation progress is still continuing; however data collected thus 

far shows an increase in densities of native fauna and flora since we completed the first round of couch 
removal trials;

•	 Continued post-rehabilitation monitoring of mosquito larval counts, other macroinvertebrate populations, 
birds, frogs and water quality physicochemical parameters in the wetland;

•	 Murdoch University, North Metro TAFE students and a foreign school student group joined for bio-
monitoring and learned ecological monitoring and macroinvertebrate identification skills;

•	 Provided in situ learning opportunities for school students to embrace wetland education and 

•	 Wetland provided macroinvertebrates for PAP program school incursions and excursions.

Horley Road Wetland – Biomonitoring

Left to right: Horley Road 
Wetland; Volunteer frog 

recording; TAFE students mosquito 
monitoring and biomonitoring  

Monitoring & RESEARCH

89
PARTICIPANTS

324
contributed

hours of volunteer labour

value of 
volunteering$14 520
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Environmental SERVICES

City of Nedlands Natural Areas Weed Management
CLIENT: City of Nedlands

PROJECT OVERVIEW: SERCUL has been undertaking 
weed control for the City of Nedlands in the City’s 
natural areas since 2016. This has included grass 
selective weed control, primarily targeting perennial 
veldt grass and control of freesias and black flag. The 
goal is to reduce the coverage of these transformer 
species in these bushland reserves. 

The weed control program has achieved excellent 
results with a large reduction in the target species. This 
is demonstrated by a 78% reduction in the amount of 
grass selective herbicide used in Shenton Bushland 
when controlling perennial veldt grass between the 
2017 season and the 2019 season. On both occasions 
all the perennial veldt grass was sprayed with the 
reduced chemical volume indicating a dramatic 
reduction in the coverage of grass. This is allowing the 
diverse native understorey room to thrive. 

Coordinated by Matt Grimbly, Dan Friesen, Natasha Bowden and Caitlin Conway

Environmental Services are undertaken on a fee for service basis. The specific intent of this delivery model 
is to generate income to support community groups and capacity in our region. It is recognised that in an 
ever tightening and diminishing funding environment there is limited external financial support provided 
to this area. Environmental Services undertaken by SERCUL are in the areas of Monitoring and Research, 
Education and Promotion and Landcare and Restoration. The majority of proceeds that are generated by the 
Environmental Services Unit come from Landcare and Restoration. 

This financial year has seen SERCUL deliver many weed control, bushland maintenance and revegetation 
projects for a wide range of clients. Work has included the control of weeds in sensitive remnant bushland, 
the successful control of serious aquatic weeds such as Amazon Frogbit, revegetation of river foreshore 
and bushland areas, manual control of large infestations of woody weeds and erosion control on the river 
foreshore.  SERCUL began a contract to undertake revegetation on NorthLink in May 2019. This project 
involved direct seeding of 110 ha of roadside batters and median strips, installation of mature trees and the 
installation of 513 000 seedlings. Completion of this project was in August 2019.

CLIENTS INCLUDED:

•	 Armadale Gosnells Landcare Group
•	 Lynwood Senior High School
•	 Bannister Creek Catchment Group
•	 City of Armadale
•	 City of Canning
•	 City of Cockburn
•	 City of Fremantle
•	 City of Gosnells
•	 City of Nedlands
•	 City of Perth

•	 City of Swan
•	 Department of Primary Industries and Regional 

Development
•	 Friends of the Spectacles
•	 Great Northern Connect
•	 Murdoch University Environmental Restoration 

Group
•	 Swan Estuary Reserves Action Group
•	 Town of Cambridge
•	 Water Corporation
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2019-20 New PROJECTS

FUNDED BY: Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions Rivercare Program.

PROJECT OVERVIEW: This project is situated in the Beckenham Open Space and 
focuses on a 550 m section of Canning River foreshore where we will plant 20 000 native 
seedlings over two years to restore habitat values, decrease weed coverage and increase 
native vegetation. The banks of the Canning River will be stabilised through planting and 
some water quality outcomes are expected by rehabilitating sections of flood plain and 
mud flats. This project will also look to enhance the linkage between the Horley Road 
Wetland and the Canning River.

PROJECT OBJECTIVES
•	 Installation of 20 000 seedlings over two years.

•	 Decrease weed coverage across 4 ha.

•	 Provide engagement and educational opportunities for volunteers and students.

•	 Improve habitat linkage between the Horley Road Wetland and the Canning River. 

Restoration of the Canning River Foreshore and 
enhancing linkage with Horley Road Wetland
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The achievements of the South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare’s project delivery are due to the 
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of natural resource management and landcare in the South region. We share our achievements with this 
positive and supporting network. 

As we commence the 2019–20 financial year, we look forward to continuing to work together to achieve 
many more positive environmental outcomes for the South region.
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The Executive Committee has determined that South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare 
Inc. (the ‘Association’) is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial report 
should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies outlined in Notes 1 & 2 to the 
financial statements.

In the opinion of the Executive Committee, the financial statements and notes, as set out on 
pages 6 to 22 are in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012, Associations Incorporation Act 2015 and:

1. Comply with the Australian Accounting Standards applicable to South East Regional 
Centre for Urban Landcare Inc.

2. Gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Association as at 30 June 2019 
and its performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with the accounting 
policies described in Notes 1 & 2; and

3. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
Association will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due and payable.

This statement is made in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013 and is signed for and on behalf of the Executive Committee by:

South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Statement by the Executive Committee

Page 1

     

Patricia Hart
Chairperson
Dated this 23rd day of September 2019

     

Felicity Bairstow
Treasurer
Dated this 23rd day of September 2019



AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTH EAST REGIONAL CENTRE  
FOR URBAN LANDCARE INC

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during 
the year ended 30 June 2019 there has been:

 (i) no contraventions of the independence requirements in relation  
to the audit; and

 (ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of  
professional conduct in relation to the audit.

HTG PARTNERS

     
TIMOTHY TURNER

Dated this 23rd day of September 2019



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTH EAST REGIONAL CENTRE  
FOR URBAN LANDCARE INC

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report being a special purpose 
financial report of South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare Inc (the 
‘Association’), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2019, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, and the statement by the Association Committee.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of South East Regional Centre 
for Urban Landcare Inc has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 
of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the 
Associations Incorporation Act 2015, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Association’s financial position 
as at 30 June 2019 and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent 
described in Notes 1 & 2 and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulations 2013.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with 
the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTH EAST REGIONAL CENTRE FOR URBAN 
LANDCARE INC

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The 
financial report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Association’s financial reporting 
responsibilities under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the 
Associations Incorporation Act 2015. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for 
another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of the Executive Committee for the Financial Report

The Executive Committee is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view and has determined that the basis of preparation described in Notes 1 & 2 to 
the financial report is appropriate to meet the financial reporting requirements of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, Associations Incorporation Act 2015, the 
Rules of Association and is appropriate to meet the needs of the members. The Committee of 
Management’s responsibility also includes such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Executive Committee is responsible for assessing the 
Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Committee either 
intend to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

The Executive Committee is responsible for overseeing the Association’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

Page 4



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTH EAST REGIONAL CENTRE FOR URBAN 
LANDCARE INC

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (continued)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx.  
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

HTG PARTNERS

    
TIMOTHY TURNER
Partner

Signed at Perth on the 24th day of September 2019

Page 5
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

Revenue 3 1,974,543 1,693,312 

Other income 3 83,086 12,047 

Direct costs 4 (1,450,798) (1,289,894)

Administration and general expenses 5 (543,297) (549,151)

Property and communications expenses (20,205) (50,060)

Governance expenses (18,634) (29,453)

Interest expenses - (90)

Loss on sale of fixed asset - (9,925)

Other expenses (2,985) -

Net surplus/(loss) for the year before income tax 21,710 (223,214)

Income Tax Expense 2(d) 0 0 

Net surplus/(loss) for the year 21,710 (223,214)

Other comprehensive income 0 0 

Total profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 21,710 (223,214)

South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Page 6The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements



Statement of Financial Position 
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note
2019

$
2018

$
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,906,851 1,334,560
Trade receivables 7 202,708 255,897
Other assets 8 84,883 101,798
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 2,194,442 1,692,255

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, Plant and equipment 9 139,205 51,396

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 139,205 51,396

TOTAL ASSETS 2,333,647 1,743,651

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 10 267,305 136,467
Provisions 11 157,690 148,641
Other liabilities 12 1,185,222 768,984
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,610,217 1,054,092

NON - CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 11 12,161 0
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 12,161 0

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,622,378 1,054,092

NET ASSETS 711,269 689,559

EQUITY
Retained earnings 711,269 689,559
TOTAL EQUITY 711,269 689,559

South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements Page 7
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South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2019

Retained earnings Total

$ $
Balance at 1 July 2018 689,559 689,559

Surplus for the year 21,710 21,710

Balance at 30 June 2019 711,269 711,269

2018

Retained earnings Total

$ $
Balance at 1 July 2017 912,773 912,773

Loss for the year (223,214) (223,214)

Balance at 30 June 2018 689,559 689,559



Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note
2019

$
2018

$
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from customers, government and grants 2,443,547 1,786,722
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,843,494) (1,922,128)
Other receipts 19,488 13,787
Interest received 29,557 29,075
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 13(a) 649,098 (92,544)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (131,738) (25,278)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 54,931 909

Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities (76,807) (24,369)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES - -

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 572,291 (116,913)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,334,560 1,451,473
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 6 1,906,851 1,334,560

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements Page 9

South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019
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South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1. Basis of Preparation

The financial statements cover South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare Inc (the 
‘Association’) as an individual entity. South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare Inc is 
an association incorporated in Western Australia and operating pursuant to the Associations 
Incorporation Act 2015.

The Executive Committee has prepared the financial statements on the basis that the Association 
is a non-reporting entity because there are no users who are dependent on its general purpose 
financial statements. These financial statements are therefore special purpose financial statements 
that have been prepared in order to meet the financial reporting requirements of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the Associations Incorporation Act 
2015. The Association is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian 
Accounting Standards.

The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 were approved and authorised for issue 
by the Executive Committee on the date their report on Page 1 was signed.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the mandatory Australian 
Accounting Standards applicable to large entities under the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals 
basis and are based on historic costs and do not take into account changing money values or, 
except where specifically stated, current valuations of non-current assets.

The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period 
unless otherwise stated, have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. The 
amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months  
or less.
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South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b) Plant and Equipment (PE)

Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss.

The depreciable amount of all PE is depreciated on a straight line basis over the useful 
lives of the assets to the Association commencing from the time the asset is held 
ready for use.

The depreciation rates used are as follows: 

•	 Computers:	40%
•	 Motor	Vehicles:	25%
•	 Office	Equipment:	10%	-	40%
•	 Plant	and	Equipment:	20%	-	40%
•	 Leasehold	Improvement:	over	the	remaining	life	of	the	lease

(c) Financial Liabilities – including trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities outstanding at the end of the 
reporting period for goods and services received by the Association during the 
reporting period which remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current liability 
with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or 
expires.

(d) Income Tax

No provision for income tax has been recognised as the Association is exempt from 
income tax under section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 as amended.

(e) Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are benefits that are expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the employees render the related service and are measured 
at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
Long term employee benefits are benefits not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. 
They are measured at the expected future payments to be made to employees based 
on the current rates of remuneration. The Association presents employee obligations 
as current when there is no right to defer settlement for 12 months irrespective of 
when settlement is expected. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e)     Employee benefits (continued)

Contributions are made to employee nominated superannuation funds and are 
charged as expenses when incurred. The Association has no other legal obligations to 
provide other benefits to employees on retirement.

(f) Leases

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits 
remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the life of 
the lease term.

(g) Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at the transaction price. After initial 
recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Association 
assesses impairment of trade receivables at the amount equal to the expected lifetime 
credit losses based upon historical experience, external indicators and forward looking 
information.

(h) Revenue and other income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is measured by reference to the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable for goods supplied and services provided, excluding taxes, rebates, and 
trade discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, 
collection is probable, the costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably, 
and when the criteria for each of the Association’s different activities have been met. 
Details of the activity-specific recognition criteria are described below.

Service Provision
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service 
to the customers.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h) Revenue and other income (continued)

Government Grants

A number of the Association’s programs are supported by grants received from 
government. 

The conditions are attached to a grant which must be satisfied before the association 
is eligible to receive the contribution, recognition of the grant as revenue is deferred 
until those conditions are satisfied.

Where a grant is received on the condition that specified services are delivered to the 
grantor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction. Revenue is recognised as services 
are performed and at year end a liability is recognised until the service is delivered.

Revenue from a non-reciprocal grant that is not subject to conditions is recognised 
when the Association obtains control of the funds, economic benefits are probable, 
and the amount can be measured reliably. Where a grant may be required to be repaid 
if certain conditions are not satisfied, a liability is recognised at year end to the extent 
that conditions remain unsatisfied.

Donations and Bequests

Donations collected are recognised as revenue when the Association gains control, 
economic benefits are probable and the amount of the donation can be measured 
reliably. 

Bequests are recognised when the legacy is received.

Interest Income

Interest is recognised using the effective interest method, which for floating rate 
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from 
the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Trade receivables and trade payables in the statement of financial position are stated 
inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. Other current assets and other 
current liabilities are stated exclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with 
other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows 
included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

(j) New standards adopted as at 1 July 2019

•	 AASB	9	Financial	Instruments.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.

Addition of this standard did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

(k) Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for 
the current financial year where required by Australian Accounting Standards or as a 
result of a change in accounting policy.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(l) New accounting standards for application in future periods

Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable 
to the Association, together with an assessment of the potential impact of such 
pronouncements on the Association when adopted in future periods, are discussed 
below:

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 as deferred by AASB 2015-8: 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Effective Date of AASB 15).

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements 
applicable to revenue with a single, principles-based model. Apart from a limited 
number of exceptions, including leases, the new revenue model in AASB 15 will apply 
to all contracts with customers as well as non-monetary exchanges between entities 
in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers and potential customers.

The core principle of the Standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict 
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods or 
services. To achieve this objective, AASB 15 provides the following five- step process:

•	 identify	the	contract(s)	with	a	customer;
•	 identify	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract(s);
•	 determine	the	transaction	price
•	 allocate	the	transaction	price	to	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract(s);	

and
•	 recognise	revenue	when	(or	as)	the	performance	obligations	are	satisfied.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(l)  New accounting standards for application in future periods (continued)

The transitional provisions of this Standard permit an entity to either: restate the 
contracts that existed in each prior period presented as per AASB 108: Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (subject to certain practical 
expedients in AASB 15); or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective application 
to incomplete contracts on the date of initial application. There are also enhanced 
disclosure requirements regarding revenue.

Although the Executive Committee anticipates that the adoption of AASB 15 may 
have an impact on the Association’s financial statements, it is impracticable at this 
stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact.

AASB 16: Leases (applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019).

When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements 
applicable to leases in AASB 117: Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 16 
introduces a single lessee accounting model that eliminates the requirement for leases 
to be classified as operating or finance leases.

The main changes introduced by the new Standard include:

- recognition of a right-to-use asset and liability for all leases (excluding short-term 
leases with less than 12 months of tenure and leases relating to low-value assets);

- depreciation of right-to-use assets in line with AASB 116: Property, Plant and 
Equipment in profit or loss and unwinding of the liability in principal and interest 
components;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are included in 
the initial measurement of the lease liability using the index or rate at the 
commencement date;

- by applying a practical expedient, a lessee is permitted to elect not to separate 
non-lease components and instead account for all components as a lease; and

- additional disclosure requirements.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(l)  New accounting standards for application in future periods (continued)

Rent expense will no longer be shown; the profit and loss impact of the leases will be 
through amortisation and interest charges.

The transitional provisions of AASB 16 allow a lessee to either retrospectively apply 
the Standard to comparatives in line with AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective 
application as an adjustment to opening equity on the date of initial application.

Given the Association has only short term and peppercorn leases the Executive 
Committee does not anticipate the adoption of AASB 16 will impact the Association’s 
financial statements.

AASB 1058: Income for Not for Profit Entities

This Standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019. It clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that 
apply to not for profit (“NFP”) entities, in conjunction with AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. These Standards supersede all the income recognition 
requirements relating to private sector NFP entities, and the majority of income 
recognition requirements relating to public sector NFP entities, previously in AASB 
1004 Contributions.

The timing of income recognition depends on whether such a transaction gives 
rise to a liability or other performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or 
service), or a contribution by owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another 
asset) received by an entity. AASB 1058 applies when a NFP entity receives volunteer 
services or enters into other transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset 
is significantly less than the fair value of the asset principally to enable the entity 
to further its objectives. In the latter case, the entity recognises and measures the 
asset at fair value in accordance with the applicable Australian Accounting Standard 
(e.g. AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment). Upon initial recognition of the asset, 
this Standard requires the entity to consider whether any other financial statement 
elements (called ‘related amounts’) should be recognised in accordance with the 
applicable Accounting Standard, such as:

(a)  contributions by owners;
(b)  revenue, or a contract liability arising from a contract with a customer;
(c)  a lease liability;
(d)  a financial instrument; or
(e)  a provision.

South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Page 17



South East Regional Centre for Urban Landcare
Financial Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Page 18

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(l) New accounting standards for application in future periods (Continued)

If the transaction is a transfer of a financial asset to enable an entity to acquire or 
construct a recognisable nonfinancial asset to be controlled by the entity (i.e. an 
in-substance acquisition of a nonfinancial asset), the entity recognises a liability for 
the excess of the fair value of the transfer over any related amounts recognised. The 
entity recognises income as it satisfies its obligations under the transfer similarly to 
income recognition in relation to the performance obligations under AASB 15. If the 
transaction does not enable an entity to acquire or construct a recognisable non-
financial asset to be controlled by the entity, then any excess of the initial carrying 
amount of the recognised asset over the related amounts is recognised as income.

Each revenue stream, including grant agreements is currently being reviewed to 
determine the impact of AASB 1058.

(m) Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies

When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the recognition and measurement of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Information about estimates and assumptions 
that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 
different.

Useful lives of depreciable assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each 
reporting date, based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these 
estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change the utility of certain 
equipment.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the estimated cash 
flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the 
estimated cashflows, we have used current pay rates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2019
$

2018
$

3. Revenue and Other Income

Revenue
Grants 412,067 317,861
Partners 849,101 832,028
Services delivery landcare 685,170 492,974
Services delivery others 28,205 50,449
Total Revenue 1,974,543 1,693,312

Other income
Donations 0 830
Interest revenue 29,557 29,075
Gain on sale or disposal PPE 34,041 908
Correction of income (3,112) (32,553)
Other income 22,600 13,787
Total other income 83,086 12,047

,

4. Direct Costs

Landcare P/G delivery 460,517 0
Landcare services delivery 421,303 678,148
Vehicle Operations 58,566 69,962
Education delivery 202,713 208,219
Monitoring & research delivery 101,642 88,601
Community capacity delivery 206,057 244,963
Total Direct Costs 1,450,798 1,289,894

5. Surplus / (deficit) includes the following specific expenses

Depreciation 23,040 26,357
23,040 26,357

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash on hand 269 266
Cash at bank 577,635 319,220
Short-term investments 1,328,947 1,015,074

1,906,851 1,334,560
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2019
$

2018
$

7. Trade Receivables

CURRENT
Trade receivables 202,708 255,897
Less provision for impairment 0 0

202,708 255,897
8. Other Assets

CURRENT
Accrued income 424 0
Prepaid project expenses 35,645 36,471
Prepaid insurance/rego expenses 48,514 65,327
Deferred expense - WWAG 300 0

84,883 101,798
9. Property, Plant and equipment

Computer Equipment
At cost 7,520 7,520
Accumulated depreciation (7,520) (7,518)
Total computer equipment 0 2

Office equipment
At cost 7,500 7,500
Accumulated depreciation (7,500) (7,499)
Total office equipment 0 1

Plant and equipment
At cost 77,537 76,460
Accumulated depreciation (59,010) (63,251)
Total plant and equipment 18,527 13,209

Motor vehicles
At cost 168,924 184,699
Accumulated depreciation (105,377) (146,515)
Total motor vehicles 63,547 38,184

Leasehold Improvement
At cost 59,690 0
Accumulated depreciation (2,560) 0
Total leasehold improvement 57,130 0

139,205 51,396
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2019
$

2018
$

10. Trade and Other Payables

CURRENT
Trade payables 7,348 13,508
Accrued expenses 75,334 0
Credit cards 4,473 2,731
PAYG withholdings payable 20,228 15,682
Superannuation payable 31,853 27,714
Parental leave funds 0 1,414
GST/BAS payable 88,847 50,444
Accrued wages 39,222 24,974

267,305 136,467
11. Provisions

CURRENT
Provision for annual leave 86,556 55,598
Provision for personal leave 7,000 0
Provision for LSL 64,134 93,043

157,690 148,641
NON - CURRENT
Provision for LSL 12,161 0

12,161 0

12. Other Liabilities

CURRENT
Unearned revenue 28,532 3,275
Unearned grants received 1,155,345 765,709
Donation liability (Public Environment Fund) 1,345 0

1,185,222 768,984
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13. Cash Flow Information

(a) Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities
2019

$
2018

$
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Cash flows/(deficit) excluded from surplus attributable to 
operating activities

21,710 (223,214)

Non-cash flows in surplus:
- depreciation 23,040 26,357
- (profit)/loss on sale of fixed assets (34,041) 9,018

Changes in assets and liabilities:
- (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 53,189 (87,814)
- (increase)/decrease in other assets 16,915 (15,636)
- increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 130,836 3,444
- increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 21,210 (17,645)
- increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 416,239 212,946

Cashflows from operations 649,098 (92,544)

(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities 
Donations in-kind - -

- -

14. Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Association, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Association in future financial years.

15. Association Details

The principal place of business is 1 Horley Road, Beckenham, WA 6107. 

16. Economic dependence 

The Association is dependent on various government agencies for the majority of its revenue 
used to operate the business. At the date of this report the Executive Committee has no reason 
to believe the agencies will not continue to support the Association.
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